
 

Download this agenda via the free modern.gov app on your iPad, Android Device 
or Blackberry Playbook.  For information relating to this meeting or to request a 

copy in another format or language please contact: 
Lorraine Stewart, Town Hall, Castle Circus, Torquay, TQ1 3DR  

 

Email: governance.support@torbay.gov.uk - www.torbay.gov.uk  

 

(1) 

 
 

The Oldway Mansion and Grounds Steering Group (Working Party) 
Meeting Agenda 

 
Monday, 14 August 2023 at 3.15 pm 

to be held in Teams - Virtual 
 

Membership 

Councillor Adam Billings 

Councillor Cat Johns 

Councillor Barbara Lewis 

Councillor Katya Maddison 

Councillor Ras Virdee 

 

Iris Butler 

Tim Eley 

Louise Gilson 

Kathy Hughes 

Mary Jenkins 

Jo Jones 

Colleen Moon 

 

1.   Minutes (Pages 2 - 3) 
 To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 12 June 2023 

 
2.   Matters Arising 

 
 

3.   Project Directors Update Report 
 

(Pages 4 - 22) 

4.   Summary of Public Consultation findings 
 

 

5.   Next steps 
 

 

6.   Any other business 
 

 

  
 
 
 

 

 

https://itunes.apple.com/gb/app/mod.gov/id508417355?mt=8
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en
http://appworld.blackberry.com/webstore/content/26429152/?lang=en&countrycode=GB
mailto:governance.support@torbay.gov.uk
http://www.torbay.gov.uk/


  
 

Minutes of The Oldway Mansion and Grounds Steering Group (Working 
Party) 

 
12 June 2023 

 
-: Present :- 

 
Councillors Billings, Johns, Barbara Lewis, Maddison and Virdee  

 

Invited External Advisors: Jacob Brandon, Iris Butler, Louise Gilson, Kathy Hughes, 
Mary Jenkins and Jo Jones 

 
(Also in attendance:  Councillor Chris Lewis, Councillor Swithin Long, Councillor Nigel 
Penny, Councillor David Thomas, Councillor Jacqueline Thomas and Councillor Alan 

Tyerman)  
 

 

 
354. Election of Chairperson  

 
Councillor Maddison was elected the Chairwoman for The Oldway Mansion and 
Grounds Steering Group (Working Party). 
 

355. Welcome and Apologies  
 
An apology for absence was received from Tim Eley. 
 

356. Terms of Reference and Invited External Advisors  
 
The Director of Pride in Place read out the Terms of Reference for the working 
party which had been agreed by Council on 25 June 2023.  Members requested the 
Director of Pride in Place consider whether number 6 was still relevant. 
 

357. Frequency of Meetings and Work Programme  
 
The frequency of the meetings of The Oldway Mansion and Grounds Steering 
Group (Working Party) and work programme were noted. 
 

358. Project Directors Report  
 
The Director of Pride in Place presented the report compiled by the Project Director.  
The Director Pride in Place highlighted the significant costs that would be required 
to get Oldway to a point where the building could be used. 
 
The Project Directors report stressed that the first phase of the formative 
consultation was intended to test the emerging vision and how it aligned with the 
public's priorities to inform the masterplan.  The next stage would be to analyse the 

Page 2

Agenda Item 1



The Oldway Mansion and Grounds Steering Group (Working Party) Monday, 12 June 2023 
 

 
 

 

consultation results.  These results will inform the further development of the 
masterplan including recommendations for a phased approach to work over the 
next decade. 
 
The Steering Group were informed that it was hoped that a detailed report on the 
opportunities for the rotunda, together with viability testing, funding opportunities as 
well as the development of a business plan would be available in August. 
 

359. AOB  
 
Contact with the Council – in response to a suggestion of there being a single point 
of contact within the Council, the Director of Pride in Place sought for queries to be 
raised with him in the first instance. 
 
 
 
 

Chairman 

Page 3



Katherine Findlay Heritage Consultancy 

Project Director’s report to Oldway Working Party 

Project: Building a resilient future for Oldway 

Client: Torbay Council 

Prepared by: Katherine Findlay, project director 

Date of meeting: 14.08.23 

Location: Teams 

Overview 

Since the last working party meeting, the ‘Developing a resilient future for Oldway’ project team has completed 
three key pieces of work that will inform the final masterplan. These are: 

1. Business viability report

This report looks at the potential uses of the mansion and their commercial viability. It concludes that a mixed
use model is preferable, comprising a commercially-run catering offer on the ground floor, enhanced Registry
Service and events hire on the first floor, and private residences on the second and third floors.

2. Buildings Conservation Management Plan

This is a substantial piece of work that provides a comprehensive guide to the conservation of the Mansion and
covers the other buildings on site. The CMP:

• sets out the Mansion’s history and main phases of construction and alteration

• provides a costed condition survey

• articulates the building’s heritage values and the levels of significance which are attributable to its fabric
and interiors

• identifies the key conservation challenges that need to be considered as part of the building’s on-going
management, repair and reuse

• sets out a clear action plan of prioritized works and recommended policies

• provides a full gazetteer that describes the building on a room-by-room basis as a reference tool

3. Stakeholder engagement and public consultation report

The report gives a full account of the project's stakeholder engagement and public consultation phases which
were completed in June 2023 and sets out the findings. The consultation reached a large audience, with over
1,800 people responding to the final survey. This was the largest public consultation survey response in recent
years for Torbay Council.

Through the survey, and face-to-face engagement with the local community at a range of events, the public have 
shown strong support generally for the emerging vision and proposals presented for Oldway’s future. The report 
concludes that there is overwhelming support for restoring Oldway Mansion and gardens and preserving its 
history and heritage. 

Page 4

Agenda Item 3



Page 2 

These three pieces of work will all be appended to the main masterplan. They are currently awaiting sign off 
from Torbay Council. Once it is received, they can be circulated to Oldway working party attendees.  

Oldway gardens nature trail 

We were pleased to support the Oldway Gardens Group by providing specialist input from heritage and nature 
education specialist Catherine Farnell. Together they have produced a new nature trail (attached) that will be 
printed and made available to the public shortly. It will provide some sustainable income for the OGG and will be 
an attractive new activity to encourage families on to the site while the buildings are inaccessible.  

Progress against Approved Purposes 

Key 

Complete or on track to complete with no issues 

Some issues - needs adjustment to complete 

Stuck or major issues 

Approved purpose Notes 

Business development and income generation 

Analyse the potential future financial business 
model 

Business viability report for the mansion complete and 
submitted to Torbay Council for sign off. Conclusions 
support a mixed use model with catering, 
weddings/events and residential. 

Develop a masterplan for future use. In progress, on track 

Develop 10-year business/sustainability plan. It has become apparent there are too many variables to 
complete a detailed 10 year business plan. 10 year 
schedule in masterplan will consider high level phasing 
of works and schedule of commercial activities coming 
on stream. 

Analyse potential structures for post-restoration 
operational management including the roles of 
Torbay Council, voluntary organisations and 
commercial operators 

Recommendations will be included in masterplan, 
drawing on stakeholder/client engagement and 
business viability report. 

Governance, organisation review and development 

Support volunteers to review current governance 
and purposes of the existing groups. 

The governance review is complete and contains 
practical recommendations. However, progress is now 
stalled due to lack for formal agreements/leases with 
the Oldway Gardens Group and Oldway Tearooms CIC. 
This issue has been raised with TC on numerous 
occasions. 

Support volunteers to explore how the existing 
groups can move forwards together to maximise the 
benefit to Oldway, volunteers and the community. 

As above. 

Page 5



Page 3 

Facilitate the establishment of an appropriate 
structure that will enable volunteers and the 
community to fully participate in and help shape 
future operations at Oldway. 

As above. 

Regularise the operation of voluntary groups on site 
through appropriate agreements with the 
landowner, Torbay Council. 

As above. 

Master planning, options appraisal and 
conservation management 

Review historical context and development of the 
site. 

Complete for buildings and in progress for gardens. 

Establish the wider constraints on site including 
consents, funding constraints, ownership/covenants, 
current leases and agreements. 

As above. 

Indicate ways in which Oldway might best suit all 
existing and potential users, increase footfall and 
attract visitors from beyond local area. 

As above. 

Define and evaluate options for both buildings and 
gardens along with their comparative capital and 
other development costs. 

As above. 

Develop operational model and historic fabric 
impact assessment. 

As above. 

Consider phasing options with outline cost plan. As above. 

Produce Conservation Management Plans for both 
the buildings and the gardens 

The buildings CMP is complete and the gardens CMP 
will be completed in September. 

Communication and engagement 

Carry out appropriate and meaningful public and 
stakeholder engagement with emerging master plan 
and business plans 

Stakeholder engagement and public consultation 
complete and successful. Over 1800 responses and 
overwhelming support for the emerging vision. 
Consultation and engagement report complete and 
submitted to Torbay Council for sign off. 

Support volunteers to test pilot activities with wider 
audiences 

This has happened to an extent through events and the 
new nature trail but cannot be fully pursued until 
structure of voluntary activity on site is resolved on the 
basis of firm agreements with TC. 

Create a unified identity for Oldway that will give 
shape to the restoration programme and provide a 
brand for future voluntary, public, civic and 
commercial activity on the site. 

Development of branding not possible within 
timeframe due to delays in main contracts starting as a 
result of procurement process. We recommend that it 
is scheduled in the  next phase, when Torbay Council is 
committed to a defined course of action. 

Establish regular, consistent channels of 
communication about Oldway in partnership with 
the Torbay Council communications department and 
volunteers. 

Project team working closely with comms team 

Page 6



Page 4 

Next steps 

Masterplan 

In the coming weeks, the team will concentrate on absorbing the findings of the stakeholder engagement and 
public consultation report, the business viability report and the buildings CMP into the main masterplan and 
refining the proposals accordingly. The gardens CMP is in progress and will feed into the masterplan as it 
develops. We have been instructed to work to the following timetable: 

• Draft report deadline 12 October

• SLT draft report clearance 24 October

• Final report deadline 26 October

• Informal Cabinet final report clearance 31 October

• Cabinet 14 November

Rotunda Heritage Enterprise proposal 

The team is currently developing an application for a Heritage Enterprise grant from NLHF which we propose 
Torbay Council submits to fund the restoration of the Rotunda. The masterplan will propose that the Rotunda is 
brought back into commercial use in the first phase of the site’s restoration, while the mansion is drying out and 
more invasive condition investigations are carried out. KF and MT met with NLHF at a regional level to discuss 
the idea, as Heritage Enterprise grants are not widely available, and received an encouraging response. Through 
the ‘Developing a resilient future for Oldway’ project, we have identified that to bring the Rotunda back into use 
in phase one, its end use should meet the following criteria: 

• Income generating – it must support the viability of the site

• Sensitive to the historic character of the building

• Third party operated – TC is not in a position to be the operator

• Good fit with the active and healthy vision for Oldway

• Not sensitive to continued works on the rest of the site

• Contributor to wider economic development in Paignton and the Bay

• Not in conflict with established venues in Paignton or other users of Oldway

The end use that we propose is a family activity centre. We have begun talks with the UK’s leading supplier of 
this type of facility, who are enthusiastic about the potential of the site. This use can be operational relatively 
quickly, makes a virtue of the unusual volumes within the space and fits well with the building’s heritage of 
entertainment and welcoming children and young people. The equipment can be installed without interacting 
structurally with the historic fabric.  

Should another operator open a climbing centre in the Bay in the meantime (which would come with an 
exclusivity zone) we would have the option of a different but similar product from the company such as a 
layered adventure course with high ropes etc. 

Page 7

beha042
Cross-Out

beha042_1
Cross-Out



Page 5 

On 15th August, KF, AD, DT and CL will meet with an interested supplier to discuss the proposal. Torbay Council 
will then decide whether to go ahead with the application. We recommend that this decision is taken as soon 
as possible so that the project can continue from the currently NLHF project without a hiatus if the application 
is successful.  

Levelling Up case studies 

The scale of the conservation deficit at Oldway means that very substantial funding will be required to restore 
the mansion and gardens and ensure a sustainable future for the site. Torbay is a tier 1 Levelling Up area and 
there are a number of projects based around historic buildings in similar areas that have received significant 
LUF grants. KF has prepared case studies of four that are most relevant to Oldway (attached).  

Page 8

beha042_2
Cross-Out



The grotto was built around 1900
and the rocks create a special
habitat for wildlife. If you look
closely, you’ll spot minibeasts in
the cracks and moss and lichen
growing on the rocks.

Once a tree dies, it
is still an important
habitat for wildlife.
Can you find a
rotting tree stump?
Are there any holes
made by insects? Is
there any fungi,
lichen or moss
growing on it?

Oldway Gardens is full of trees. A
single tree can support 100s of
different species of animals and
plants. Some make a home in the tree,
some eat its leaves and others burrow
into its trunk or live amongst its roots.

Walk among the trees. Look up to the
sky. What can you see and hear?
Reach out and feel the texture of the
bark. How does it make you feel?

The pond is home to
many creatures. Some
live their whole life
underwater such as the
Great diving beetle,
some live only part of
their life in the water
like dragonflies and
others are just visitors.
Are there any visitors
to the pond today?

Pause by the water.
What reflections
can you see?

A large wall is all that remains
of the orangery that was
damaged during the second
world war. Now this wall is home
to mini-beasts, plants and
occasionally nesting birds.

These flower beds have
been sown with wild flower
seed. Sit for a while and
see if any flying insects
visit. Can you spot a bee,
butterfly or beetle?

WOODLAND PATH

TREMENDOUS TREES

POND

POLLINATOR PATCH ORANGERY WALL ROCKERY AND GROTTO

Follow this trail to explore the
wilder side of Oldway Gardens.

The formal gardens were
first created over 150
years ago and are now a
haven for wildlife. Many
creatures have made it
their home and others
often visit.

What wildlife will you spot today?

Join this circular trail at any
point and use the spotting guide
over leaf to tick off what you find.

Nature trail
Alternative route

ROTUNDA

TEA
HUT

OLDWAY MANSION

TENNIS COURTS

LITTLE
OLDWAY

LI
M
E
W
AL

K

OLDWAY GARDENS

N Tature rail

3

6

6

5

5

2

2

3

1

1

4

4

LoOk UP AND out
to seE the views
from the garden

ZoOm in and
loOk closely
at the wildlife

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



Wildlife shows itself at different times of the
day and across different seasons… You may
have to visit several times to find everything!

TREES

See what wildlife you can spot as you
walk around Oldway Gardens.
Tick them off as you find them.

Dandelions

Daisy

Buttercup

Herb robert

Nettle

Ivy

Clover

WILD PLANTS AND FLOWERS MINI-BEASTS

Sycamore

Beech

Sweet chestnut

Hawthorn

Lime

Ho
lly

Oak

Nettle

Herb robert

IvyD
aisy

Buttercup

Clover

Da
nd

elio
n

La
d
ybird

Snail

Bee

Ground
beetle

But
terf

ly

Spider

Slug

Ladybird

Snail

Butterfly

Spider

Slug

Bee

Ground beetle

GSpotting uide

Sycamore

Lime

Beech

Oak

Sweet
chestnut

Holly

Hawthorn

soft spiky spong
y

rough
bumpy

crunchy
red

orange yellow
green

blu
e

COLOUR AND TEXTURE
Nature comes in lots of colours and
different textures. Can you find natural
things that are:

EVIDENCE OF WILDLIFE
We can’t always see wildlife but it often
leaves evidence behind. Can you spot a:

spider’s web animal fo
otpr

int eaten leaf animal hom
e droppings (poo)

feather nibbled pine
cone

Created by Heritage Arts and People CIC

P
age 10



Katherine Findlay Heritage Consultancy 

 

Project: Building a resilient future for Oldway 

Client: Torbay Council  

Prepared by: Katherine Findlay, project director 

Date: 03.08.23 

 

 

Heritage-led LUF project case studies 

Contents 

 

Introduction ............................................................................................................................................ 1 

Summary ................................................................................................................................................. 1 

Case Studies ............................................................................................................................................ 2 

Haigh Hall, Wigan ................................................................................................................................ 2 

Arbuthnot House, Aberdeenshire ....................................................................................................... 5 

Grand Pavilion, Porthcawl ................................................................................................................... 7 

Weston-Super-Mare ............................................................................................................................ 9 

Conclusion and recommendations ....................................................................................................... 12 

 

Introduction 

 

This report follows an earlier document that briefly summarised nine successful, heritage-led LUF 

projects from around the UK. Four examples were chosen to explore in more detail here – two from 

England, one in Scotland and one in Wales. They were selected for their relevance to Oldway. Each 

example has a grand but deteriorating 19th or early 20th century building at its heart that is owned by 

the local authority and is much loved by local people. All the schemes require a roughly similar level 

of investment. All four schemes aim to use the restoration and reuse of their historic assets to 

activate cultural activity, social benefits and economic development in deprived towns. In each case, 

the officer responsible for the LUF bid kindly gave their time to discuss their project and answer 

questions. This report is largely based on these conversations and I am grateful to Stuart Holden, 

Jamie Wilkinson, Delyth Webb and Rachel Lewis.  

Summary 

While none of the Local Authority areas considered has exactly the same challenges and 

opportunities as Torbay, each has useful similarities. Porthcawl and Weston-Super-Mare are Victorian 

seaside resorts that have suffered decline. Aberdeenshire is also coastal, is made up of small or 

medium-sized towns with pockets of deprivation alongside wealthier communities, and has an 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3
Appendix 2



important fishing industry. Wigan is much more urbanised but Haigh Hall is the most similar to 

Oldway in terms of the scale and grandeur of the main building and its meaning to local people. 

There are striking similarities not only in the nature of the schemes that the authorities proposed to 

LUF but in the thinking behind them.  

• To varying degrees, the senior leadership and elected members of all four councils 

recognised that the care of historic assets was fundamental to economic prosperity in their 

towns. This was most pronounced at North Somerset and Bridgend, where heritage is 

strongly embedded in their economic strategies.  

• Pride in place, cultural capital, wellbeing and community cohesion were recurring themes in 

all the projects. All the officers involved felt that heritage, culture and creativity were central 

to the aims of LUF.  

• All the projects expect to see a positive economic impact on their wider towns. In all cases, 

the successful applications framed this as very important but secondary to the social and 

cultural benefits. 

• All the officers emphasised that LUF appears keen to support high profile, single-site projects 

with a strong identity that are already well developed and can make visible progress 

relatively quickly.  

• All four councils devoted significant resources to developing their bids by reprioritising 

officer posts in their heritage and development teams and making use of consultants.  

Case Studies 

Haigh Hall, Wigan 

 

 

Page 12



 

Local Authority: Wigan Council 

LUF award: £20 million 

Summary 

Wigan Council will use the funding to restore Haigh Hall, a Grade II listed building. They hope it will 

make the site a popular destination for culture, community, events and hospitality once more. The 

plans include a new world class dining experience, an underground bunker cinema, an art gallery for 

a collection of Theodore Major’s work, a rooftop terrace for astronomy and 8 hotel rooms.  

Background 

The site has been owned by Wigan Council for many years. It operated it as a public amenity until 

2016 when a lease was signed with a hotel operator. The hotel business failed and the Council was 

forced to spend a significant sum to terminate the lease and regain control. The loss of public access 

caused local friction and a protest group was set up which put a lot of pressure on the Council. When 

the operator vacated the Hall, Wigan Council recognised that the deteriorating condition of the site 

was having a negative impact on the image of the area (and thus the visitor economy) and that it was 

damaging the Council’s reputation. They had already begun to work on plans for the restoration and 

reuse of Haigh Hall when the LUF opportunity arose.  

 

Key points from meeting with Stuart Holden, Be Well Service Manager, Wigan Council, 01.08.23 

• The total cost of the Haigh Hall project is £31m. The LUF grant is £20m with the remaining 

£11m coming from Wigan Council’s own budget.  

• The Council has committed a further £2m to the surrounding parkland as match funding for a 

parallel but separate project which has received £6m from NLHF.  

• The officer team works across both projects but they are being delivered differently  

• ‘Do nothing’ was never an option that was seriously considered by the Council.  

• At the start of the project development, elected members wanted to retain maximum 

operational control after the experience with the hotel operator. They have since recognised 

that bringing in private operators for specific activities (eg catering, managing the hotel 

Page 13



rooms, commercial weddings) will improve the offer and bring in higher revenue receipts for 

the Council.  

• There was no significant opposition to the proposal to focus LUF on a single site as it was 

perceived by both the public and elected members as having huge potential benefits.  

• There is a new, dedicated post to manage the Haigh Hall project along with a team of existing 

officers whose roles have been reprioritised.  

• The team is also making extensive use of specialist consultants 

• During the development of the bid, 80% of Stuart’s work time (not including extensive 

unpaid overtime) was spend on Haigh Hall 

• Local people feel very strongly about Haigh Hall and the protest group was successful in 

generating a lot of press coverage and putting significant pressure on the Council and the 

Leader 

• The Leader of the Council championed the project at a political level. The local MP Lisa 

Nandy was also a high profile supporter. 

• The Council places a high value on culture and the Haigh Hall project fitted within its Cultural 

Manifesto. 

• The Chief Executive is a very strong advocate for cultural assets 

• Prior to the Haigh Hall project, Wigan Council had submitted a shopping development 

proposal to LUF which failed.  

• Culture is a strategic priority for LUF. The project application frames Haigh Hall as primarily a 

cultural project with social and wellbeing benefits, not as an economic development project. 

It is very clear about the benefits of cultural opportunities for people, with the positive 

economic impact being a welcome but secondary benefit.  

• The application was informed by data on cultural engagement in local communities and how 

it links to deprivation. This was drawn from existing datasets rather than commissioned for 

the application.  

• The application explicitly explored how Haigh Hall would fit into the cultural landscape in the 

region, specifically with major players such as the Tate and the Lowry.  

• The agreement to house a major art collection valued at £200m is a significant element of 

the proposal. The financial projections assume that the Arts Council will grant NPO status.  

• A Haigh Hall project was being developed before the application. It was ready to go and 

could be delivered relatively quickly.  

• Despite a strong commitment to culture, the Council’s record on caring for and adequately 

investing in historic assets is mixed. It remains to be seen whether good practice at Haigh 

Hall will have a positive impact on the authority’s wider historic asset management.  

Haigh Hall LUF application and appendices 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 14

https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fo/36lxs5apb8z061kv6t636/h?rlkey=dwojou3xg674kof21mnipc6qu&dl=0


Arbuthnot House, Aberdeenshire 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Page 15



Local Authority: Aberdeenshire Council 

LUF award: £20 million 

Summary 

‘Cultural Tides: North Sea Connections in Aberdeenshire’ focuses on the development of a cultural 

quarter in Peterhead centred around the restoration and renewal of vacant Arbuthnot House. It also 

includes the renovation and extension of Macduff Marine Aquarium.  

£18 million will revitalise the heart of Peterhead by transforming the disused Arbuthnot House into a 

new destination museum and cultural hub. The historic building is to be sensitively restored and 

complemented by a striking new extension housing both the town’s library and a new regional 

museum showcasing Aberdeenshire’s extensive historical collections and artwork. 

Multi-purpose workshop spaces are intended to support participation and learning, whilst a new 

dedicated facility is set to attract temporary national exhibitions. The facility is also to include a cafe 

and restaurant with views of the harbour, and the building’s former walled garden will be 

transformed into a new public green space. 

The Carnegie Building, which houses the existing museum and library, is to be restored and 

converted into a new cultural venue with a live entertainment space as well as dance and music 

studios on the upper floor. 

Background 

Arbuthnot House was the main office base of Aberdeenshire Council until it moved out in 2014. The 

building has lain empty ever since and has suffered from vandalism. An attempt to sell it to property 

developers for conversion to a restaurant in 2019 was not successful. At the time of the LUF 

application, it had been on the market for six years.  

Key points from meeting with Jamie Wilkinson, Investments and Projects Executive, Aberdeenshire 

Council, 03.08.23 

• The total project is cost is £27m, with £20m coming from LUF. Aberdeenshire Council has 

underwritten the remaining £7m but is keen to find alternative sources of funding to cover it.  

• The project was designed to match the criteria and priorities of LUF  

• There was some political pressure to develop an economic development project focussed on 

the seafood industry, but officers successfully made the case that LUF is primarily about 

quality of life rather than economic impact, and that access to culture is a key priority.  

• It was apparent to officers that LUF was keen to support high profile, single-site projects with 

a strong identity that could be delivered relatively quickly rather than proposals to scatter 

investment more widely.  

• JW feels that LUF was also particularly keen to support smaller coastal communities and that 

their project matched with what was being sought in a number of ways 

• Feedback indicated that it was looked on favourably that the project had been designed to 

deliver on LUF priorities rather than retrofitting LUF to less well-matched project.  

• The MacDuff Aquarium element (30 miles from Peterhead) was included as elected 

members were keen to see benefits in more than one location, but it was a challenge to 

present it as linked to the main project.  

Page 16



• The impact assessment showed that while the scheme would have some positive economic 

impact, the biggest benefits were around pride in place and wellbeing through access to 

heritage and culture.  

• The application made the case that in a relatively remote area with only small towns, access 

to heritage and culture was limited and much needed.  

• Without LUF, Arbuthnot House would have remained vacant, deteriorating and negatively 

impacting the town.  

Cultural Tides: North Sea Connections in Aberdeenshire LUF application 

 

Grand Pavilion, Porthcawl 

 

 

 

Page 17

https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/2eru6bj2a3ni1k4uh1d56/luf20375-application-dataredacted.pdf?rlkey=yqv4iuv52x6wse11lom0espv6&dl=0


 

Local Authority: Bridgend County Borough Council 

LUF award: £18 million 

Project summary 

The funding will be targeted at a major restoration and re-development of the Grade II Listed Grand 

Pavilion in Porthcawl, addressing the condition of the building’s concrete structure and preserving its 

unique heritage whilst also meeting the needs and aspirations of the community for extended and 

improved arts, culture, and heritage services. A range of modern facilities were proposed in the 

funding bid, including: 

• new function spaces at first floor (Esplanade) level 

• new rooftop function and cafe spaces offering elevated sea-views across the Bristol Channel 

• new studio theatre and ancillary facilities 

• increased and improved welfare facilities including new changing places facility 

• business incubation or workshop spaces to street level 

• new office facilities 

 

Background 

The building has been in continual use as a theatre and for other community uses since it was built 

over 100 years ago. It has always been owned by the local authority. In 2016 a separate charity, the 

Awen Trust, was set up to deliver all BCBC’s cultural services and it took on the operation of the 

Pavilion. The Trust receives an annual subsidy from BCBC of around £1m. The building was 

operational at the start of the project but the internal spaces were not working very well which 

meant only activity could take place at a time. Maintenance was done reactively. Works done in 70s 

and 80s were not holding up well and concrete cancer was affecting the historic fabric.  

 

Key points from meeting with Delyth Webb, Group Manager Strategic Regeneration, Bridgend 

County Borough Council 18.07.23: 

• BCBC has two historic buildings as the focal points for its major regeneration programmes – 

the Town Hall in Bridgend in the north and the Grand Pavilion in the south. The authority 

strongly believes that regeneration planned around historic buildings provides better value 

Page 18



and is better received by the public than new build. New developments are considered in 

relation to the historic anchor sites. 

• Welsh local authorities have only recently taken over responsibility for listed building 

approvals from Cadw. As a result, BCBC feels that is must demonstrate good care of its own 

listed building assets as an example, although this is very challenging in the current economic 

climate and not all its assets are in the condition they would like.  

• As a result of its conviction that heritage is integral to economic development, BCBC has 

moved its Conservation & Design team out of Planning and into Regeneration. This is to 

enable C&D staff to challenge Planning and advocate for historic buildings and the historic 

environment more strongly. 

• Prior to their LUF bid, BCBC and the Awen Trust had already begun design work, business 

planning etc on the project so they were able to submit well-developed plans as part of the 

application. BCBC have since been told that this was a significant factor in the decision to 

award LUF money.  

• When considering where to focus the LUF application, BCBC concluded that no other project 

was at a similar stage of development. Basing the application on another project would 

necessarily have been much more speculative and less likely to succeed.  

• Had LUF not been available, it is doubtful that BCBC would have been able to deliver the 

Grand Pavilion project by other means. It would likely have remained in the current state, 

with conservation issues requiring an investment of several millions within the next decade 

and no obvious source for that funding.  

• BCBC would expect public outcry if it did not care for the Grand Pavilion as the freeholder, as 

it is much loved by local communities.  

• The project will substantially increase the income that can be generated by the Grand 

Pavilion. It will also increase the annual running costs. BCBC expects to continue to subsidise 

its operation, but to a lesser degree.  

• DW has also worked on projects focussed on new industry and has the impression that 

heritage-led projects are favoured by LUF.  

• The commissioning of artist’s architectural drawings and a fly-through helped a great deal 

with both public engagement and the LUF application.  

 

Weston-Super-Mare 

 

 

Page 19



 

 

 

Local Authority: North Somerset Council 

LUF award: £20 million 

Project summary: 

£20 million was awarded from LUF following a successful bid by North Somerset Council as part of 

the authority’s Weston Placemaking Strategy, a 10-year vision for Weston's renewal. 

Page 20



The investment will be used to focus on several high-profile heritage sites across Weston’s town 

centre and seafront, including the historic Birnbeck Pier which has also benefitted from £3.5m from 

the National Heritage Memorial Fund. 

Weston sites set to receive investment include: 

• Tropicana - Building on the international profile raised by the SEE MONSTER project, the 

Tropicana will see enhancements and expansion to the events space to create an attractive, 

8,000 capacity facility and improvements to food and drink facilities. 

 

• Marine Lake - Sensitively development of year-round facilities for food and drink and leisure, 

tapping into the trend for outdoor swimming, attracting residents and visitors alike. 

 

• Weston town centre - Create more flexible spaces to attract independent high-quality retail 

and other uses. Using digital and creative design, encourage people to move around the 

town centre and seafront. 

 

• Birnbeck Pier - LUF funding will be used to improve buildings at the shore end of Birnbeck 

Pier, bringing them back into use. This will complement the funding already attracted to 

improve the pier structure itself. 

 

• Grove Park - Improving the entrance to this town centre green space and repurposing the 

park’s buildings after they’ve been vacated by Weston-super-Mare Town Council. 

Background 

North Somerset Council’s commitment to caring for its heritage was sparked 7 years ago by a visit by 

a Historic England urban panel which brought home to members the quality and value of Weston’s 

historic architecture and its potential to drive investment.  

The LUF project is ‘book-ended’ by two much-loved historic assets, Birnbeck Pier and Tropicana. The 

pier is a significant Victorian survival and the UK’s only pier to link to an island. Since its closure in 

1979 it has suffered serious decline and partial collapse. The negative impact on the town of its 

visible decay has led the Council to launch a CPO process to gain control of it, after attempts to 

encourage the owner to look after it failed. At the other end of town, Tropicana is a 1930s swimming 

lido that closed in 2000. Various attempts to find private operators failed. In recent years it has 

operated as a café and hire venue. It has hosted two major art installations – Banksy’s Dismaland, 

which attracted global attention, and See Monster. 

Key points from meeting with Rachel Lewis, Heritage & Design Manager, North Somerset Council, 

10.07.23: 

• NSC at all levels views heritage and the historic environment as key to economic 

development and investment, both in tourism and attracting new residents and businesses – 

this is evident in the placemaking strategy.  

• North Somerset is a tier 2 LUF area. It was successful in round 2 by tweaking the round 1 

application with better evidence and showing more connectivity between sites.  

• At both Birnbeck Pier and Tropicana, NSC will remain as the freeholder with third party 

operators – the RNLI at Birnbeck and a private sector operator at Tropicana. NSC has 

approached operators of similar venues in Bristol as it was felt small local organisations, 

while they were keen, did not have the necessary wherewithal to operate successfully.  

Page 21



• NSC has not so far made a capital contribution to Birnbeck but does support with revenue in 

form of staff and insurance. The capital project will total around £20 million, with funding 

from LUF, the Heritage Memorial Fund and the RNLI.  

• RNLI will be leaseholders at Birnbeck but will not pay rental. Entry to the public will be 

ticketed with takings split 50/50 between NSC and RNLI. NSC believes the takings will cover 

the running costs of the pier plus create a maintenance fund.  

• Two officers in the Heritage & Design team currently spend most of their time on the 

Birnbeck project. The wider team includes conservation, urban design, HER, archaeology and 

project officers.  

Weston Super Mare placemaking strategy 

Conclusion and recommendations 

Based on these case studies, we can conclude that there is an opportunity for Torbay to create a 

winning LUF proposal with Oldway at its heart, bringing significant benefits and generating pride in 

Paignton and the Bay. The masterplan that is currently being developed by the ‘Developing a resilient 

future for Oldway’ team aligns very well with the shape of these successful projects. Their examples 

show that we should pay particular attention to cultural opportunities in both programming and use 

of space, alongside healthy living and income generation. I recommend that:  

1. Torbay Council and the LUF partnership consider a heritage-led approach to LUF that 

prioritises the restoration and re-use of Oldway. 

2. Torbay Council allocates resources to develop a bid beyond the end of the current NLHF 

project using the new masterplan as its basis. This should be done in parallel with the 

proposed Heritage Enterprise project at the Rotunda and in close coordination with strategic 

partners such as NLHF, Historic England and Arts Council England.  

3. The ‘Developing a resilient future for Oldway’ team reviews how spaces and opportunities 

for culture, heritage and creativity are presented in the developing masterplan.  

 

Page 22

https://superweston.net/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/Prospectus_weston_super_mare.pdf

	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	Minutes

	3 Project Directors Update Report
	FINAL 2 nature trail low res
	Heritage led LUF case studies August 2023




